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Centenary Methodist Church, a turreted mass of irregular projections, 
is one of the last representatives in New Bern of the Romantic eclecticism 
which dominated late nineteenth century architecture It heralds, however, 
through the unified interior flow of space and the monochromatic cleaness 
of its exterior brick surfaces, the architectural aesthetics of the twentiet 
century .. 

TI1e church is a mUltiple-use complex consisting of a wedge-shaped sanc­
tuary which forms the main block, and side and rear projections, essentially 
rectangular in shape, surrounding the narrow end of the main wedge. These 
projections contain a chapel, nursery, Sunday school rooms, and offices .. 
The building is angled on a site at the corner of Middle and New streets, 
and the main (northwest) facade encompasses both streets. The three front 
sides of the exterior are of buff-colored brick, while the rear walls are 
of red brick.. The main sanctuar,y block is covered 'by a red slate hip roof, 
drawn at the eaves into apsidal projections .. The side and rear projections. 
are covered with hip roofs which intersect the roof of the main block. Orna 
mental galvanized ir~n coping accents the ridges of the roof, and iron fini 
occur on each apex. No two elevations are alike, and the structure presents 
a constantly changing appearance as viewed from different approaches. 

In the center of the main facade is an entrance porch, composed of a 
semicircular five-bay arcade beneath a low conical roof. The round arches 
of the arcade are supported by thick stone columns with chamfered bases and 
cushion capitals. The conical porch roof features three gable dormers, each 
with round-headed stained glass windows flanked by pinnacled colonettes. 
Stone steps spill from the base of the porch. 

Flanking the entrance porch are square corner towers of unequal height, 
the northeast tower rising in two stages and capped by a polygonal roof, and 
the taller northwest tower in three stages with a conical roof above an 
arcaded belfry. Both towers have bullet-shaped corner turrets of differing 
heights which echo the thrust of the towers themselVBs. Small windows of 
various shapes pierce both towers; the round-arched windows are accented by 
brick arches, the rectangular ones surmounted by rough textured granite lin­
tels. Granite string courses articulate the tower stages as well as serving 
as sills for the windows in the first stage () 

The north and west facades, formed by the apsidal projections of the 
main block, each with a band of three round-headed windows, terminate in 
shallow gabled pavilions" I Each pavilion corl'tains a very large round-headed 
window filled with stained glasso Behind this section, the chapel, meeting 
rooms, and offices are contained in an asymmetrical collection of rectangles 
and are illuminated by stained glass w~ndows like those of the main facade . 
and side projections. A polygonal cupola, each face containing a vent with 
scalloped louVBrs and the whole surmounted by a conical roof, projects from 
the roof apex above the chapel. 

Entrance to the sanctuary is through a vestibule with paneled wainscots 
covering the comer towers at either end the vestibule cont . 
stairs which rise in two flights to the rear balcony. The stairwell space 
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in each tower is dramatized by a truss framework of chamfered beams placed at 
the ceiling level. 

In 1965 the New Bern architectural firm of Stephens and Cardelli began 
a major renovation of the interior of centenary Methodist Church, and the 
minor but significant changes resulted in a further dramatization of the 
already fluid space produced by the juxtaposition of wall shapes and roof 
plrules. As originally designed the wedge-shaped sanctuary contained three 
sections of pews curved around an altar located in the southeast corner. An 
arcade with wooden columns supporting plaster arches of various shapes separa 
ted the altar with the choir stall to the east and the main Sunday school 
room to the south from the rest of the sanctuary. The chancel arcade was 
simplified with the replacement of the wooden columns by plaster piers, and 
the arches were standardized. The south arcade no longer opens to the Sunday 
school room, but was partitioned to create a choir alcove which balances 
the choir alcove on the opposite side of the altar. A new altar arrangement 
was installed. The free-standing altar area consists of a raised rectangular . 

. platform encircled by an elegant metal railing. Harold Waggoner was responsi 
ble for the design of the railing and the metal cross suspended above the 
altar, the baptismal font, and the pews. The lighter tones of the new pews 
and woodwork and the increased lighting served to heighten the spaciousness 
of the sanctuary. A series of windows depicting the history of the local 
church in narrative sequence was placed in the wall separating the sanctuary 
and the vestibule. With the exception of the lighting, the sanctuary c81ing 
was not altered during this renovation, and it is especially noteworthy. 
At the junction of the apsidal front and side projections with the main roof, 
tent-like pendentives form a dramatic transition between the concavity of the 
apses and the flat ceiling of the auditorium. The exposed truss system, con­
sisting of huge chamfered wooden beams connected by iron tie rods, creates a 
linear grid which is superimposed over the complex design of the ~ling. 

The, main Sunday school room was partitioned off from the sanctuary and 
a chapel created within the major portion of this large room by the addition 
of pews and a balcony. The space formerly occupied by small Sunday school 
classrooms was partitioned from the chapel by an arcaded plaster wall and now 
serves as a choir alcove This starkly beautiful room is lit by the large 
round-headed stained glass window in the southeast wall and by a band of seve 
smaller stained glass clerestory windows high on the south wall. A dropped 
ceiling·of molded acoustic spray contains recessed lighting fixtures.. The 
south border of the ceiling panel has scalloped projections wm_ch echo the 
curves of the individual clerestory windows. Twelve carved plaster plaques 
bearing symbols of the Apostles, designed by Stephens, are displayed on the 
northeast walls. The heavy carved communion table, which is placed in the 
center of the east end, is encircled by a wooden railing and a kneeling bench 
and the pulpit stands near the north wall at the east end 
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The primary department largely retains its original appearance. The 
wooden pilastered mantels with carved foliated corbels supporting the shelves, 
the molded architraves of the windows, with spayed reveals, and the verticall 
sheathed wainscot remain intact.. Much of the original richly carved wooden 
furniture is still in use. 

The exterior appearance of the original structure was not altered, but 
a one-story structure to house additional classroom and office facilities 
was constructed in the rear. 
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Although there was no established Methodist Church building in New 
Bern before the nineteenth centu~, there was some Mothodist activity in 
the area in the mid-eighteenth centu~. George Whitfield preached there 
in 1739 and wrote that 

At New Bern last Sunday, good impressions were made. From 
that place to this [New Brunswick] I have met with what they 
call New Lights. Almost every stage I have the names of 
six or eight of their preachers. This, with every other 
place being open, and exceedingly desirous to hear the Gospel, 
makes me almost determined to come back early in the Spring • 

. James Pilmoor preached there as early as 1772 and Bishop Francis Asbury as 
early as 1796. A Methodist congregation believed to have been formed in 
1772 built Andrew's Chapel in 1802. The second church building in New Bern 
it was constructed at the corner of Hancock street and Church Alley. By 
1843 the congregation showed sufficient increase to require a new structure 
and a building was constructed on New Street between Hancock and Metcalf 
streets. The name Was changed at that time to Centenary Methodist Church. 
By the time L. C. Vass wrote his history of the Presbyterian Church and the 
town of New Bern in 1886, he noted that the Methodists had the largest 
congregation in the city. 

Even though the New Street church was enlarged about 1886, the need fOJ 
a new building was apparent by 1900, and property at Middle and New streets 
was acquired from J II J. Wolfe'nden, one of the trustees of the church. The 
design for the church seems to have attracted a good deal of attention. 
The Journal noted in its edition of April 21, 1904, that the picture of 
the church would be on display at Davis Pharmacy, and in its edition of Apr: I 
23 that'the picture of the new Centenary Church at Davis Rarmacy, is attrac1 
ing a good deal of attention. The picture shows a very handsome church 
edifice ,," The cornerstone had probably already been laid by that tim,e, for 
the Journal reported on May 8 that lithe roof timbers of the new Methodist 
Church have been put in position on the South side of the buildin3" 

The plans of the church are said to be based on a New Jersey church 
designed by Charles Granville Jones of New York City. Drawings of that 
church were prOvided to Herbert Woodley Simpson of New Bern, and ~he working 
drawings and elevations of the New Bern church were developedo E~ghteen 
sheets of drawings, including five elevations, still exist. 
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Simpson was a local undertaker who had designed and built a house for 
W. B. Blades in 1903 That house, an excellent example of the Queen Anne 
Style, along with other houses which have since disappeared, probably brought 
Simpson the commission for the Oentenary Methodist 'Church Though Simpson an 
Jones are ted on the extant drawings CE "Associated Architects," Simpson 
was the local architect and certainly responsible for the final drawings and 
construction superviaon. The church was dedicated on October 22, 1905, and 
almost immediately dubbed in print as "a gem of modern architecture." 

An educational building, designed by Raymond Fuson, was constructed on 
New Street to the rear of the church in 1956, and major renovation of the 
auditorium and chapel undertaken in 1965. This remodelling, for which Harold 
Waggoner of Philadelphia was the consulting architect and Robert Stephens of 
New Bern the architect, enhanced rather than compromised the original charac­
ter of the interior. 

((}3ntenary Methodist Church is one of the major works of Herbert Simpson,. 
New Bern's most important early twentieth century architect. Although based 
on another church, the massing and arrangement of the building testify to 
Simpson's ability to interpret the styles then in vogue. The exuberance of 
post-victorian eclecticism (here combining elements of the Romanesque and 
Chateauesque styles), and the emphatic asymmetry, exhibited so boldly in 
the irregular skyline and the fluid handling of interior spaces, provide an 
interesting contrast to the calm dignity of the Georgian, Federal, and neo­
Georgian architedure that predominates in New ~ern. 
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